74703-7

# No. 747037

# APPELLANT RESPONSE

### INTRODUCTION

Swinger encourages the Appellate Court to review the evidence and not rely on the comments made by the state trial court Judge Charles Snyder during a partial summary judgment in another case with other causes of action (Swinger v. First American Title Insurance Co). That partial

summary judgment was not a final decision. The final outcome of that case was a settlement and not a trial.

Additionally, the actions and comments of Federal Court Judge

Pechman concerning a real estate action filed in the wrong jurisdiction, the

Federal Court, should be viewed along with her other denials to

understand the underlying intent of the court actions. It appears that the

Federal Trial Court made the following decision in an effort to assure the

complaint progressed to the Federal Appellate Court.

- 1. Denied a jury trial.
- 2. Denied the affirmative defense of the statute of limitation.
- 3. Denied subpoenas and subpoena duces tacum for county employee to provide evidence.
- 4. Denied Swinger's request to take leave of the court.
- 5. Denied Swinger's cross complaints.

Neither of these prior court's comments have any relevance to the decisions this court will make based on the documentary evidence, the law and in the interest of justice.

Note that V's attorney does not deny or refute any of Swinger's specific evidence for unjust enrichment, the request for restitution, and the amounts requested for restitution. Also, V's attorney does not refute or deny the specific evidence provide for the tortuous interference with Swinger's contract. V's attorney only make the general statement that the

trial court did not make errors. But, the error by the trial court in this state case was contrary to the following Supreme Court statement:

The Supreme Court has said: "We hold that the issue whether a landowner has been deprived of all economically viable use of his property is a predominantly factual question......In actions at law otherwise with the purview of the Seventh Amendment, this question is for the jury". Monterey v. Del Monte Dunes at Monterey, Ltd., 526 U.S. 687, 720-721 (1999).

V's dispute regarding property ownership is a fact that should have been determined by a jury and not decided by the trial judge.

Washington State law "RCW 7.28.070 Adverse possession under claim and color of title—Payment of taxes. "Every person in actual, open and notorious possession of lands or tenements under claim and color of title, made in good faith, and who shall for seven successive years continue in possession, and shall also during said time PAY ALL TAXES LEGALLY ASSESSED on such lands or tenements, shall be held and adjudged to be the legal owner of said lands or tenements,....".

This RCW evidences the legislature's intent to establish the payment of property tax as the primary indicator of property ownership.

#### **DISPUTED FACTS**

Swinger would like to dispel the inaccurate, misleading and incomplete statements provide by V in his answer to the appeal. This will be done on a page by page basis of V's reply.

Page 1: V's attorney Mark Lee's (Lee) states that there never was a motion made by Swinger. This is not true.

Swinger's complaint dated December 11, 2015 (CP 1) for unjust enrichment, abuse of process, and interference with a contract plus the Swinger's assignment of errors pages 2 and 3 of the brief detail his claims and counter claims for this appeal. CP 12 and 13 are the cross motion for unjust enrichment, abuse of process and tort interference with a contract and declaration for to support the motion.

A maxim of law is (roughly) that substance governs over form and in the interest of justice V's argument regarding a motion is moot.

Page 2: Contrary to V's statement Swinger and V do not own government lots on opposite side of the Nooksack River in 1986.

First, V did not purchase his property until three years after 1986.

Secondly, on the map on V's page 3, we can see that V's parcel number 400235 512/088 is south of the "yellow" area. V's deed description does not include the "yellow" area. The yellow area is the property V tried unsuccessfully to obtain in his adverse possession in his Federal complaint and is the subject property of the Swinger unjust enrichment complaint.

True copies of the Swinger property are contained in (CP #13) as provided by the Whatcom County Department of River and Floods (exh 1), Whatcom County CREP Program map, County Assessor's map (exh 2), and all evidence provided on pages 7-9 of Swinger's appeal. (Attached

are color copies of the government maps because it is easier to read

Swinger's property tax number on both of his parcels and the boundary

lines identified by the CREP survey on color maps. The originals were in

color.) It should also be noted that these maps were independently created

by government agencies. Swinger did not purchase these opinions.

Page 4: V's attorney states, V "advised the CREP program that he owned the disputed area."

Then V goes on to say in the next sentence: "In each and every communication, he (V) merely asserted that he had a claim on the title of the Disputed Area."

The terms "owned" and "merely asserted he had a claim" appear contradictory. It appears that V's story is changing to cover up false allegations.

Page 6: Avulsion comments: Swinger claimed avulsion only in response to FATCO assertion of accretion. This was not Swinger's only argument as V appears to allege by his statement. Because the "yellow" area was only a minor portion, one of three easements, of Swinger's complaint against FATCO, Swinger did not appeal any further complaints regarding the yellow area. A summary judgment was not the final decision of the court and the complaint was settled. That makes any reference to the FATCO litigation irrelevant.

Page 7: Regarding the partial summary judgment with FATCO, Judge Charles Snyder's statement was: "You <u>may</u> own the subject property" but, you have not proven it for a summary judgment order. The lack of sufficient evidence in a partial summary judgment motion does not mean Swinger does not own the subject property. It means the evidence must go to the jury.

V filed a quiet title for adverse possession in federal court evidencing the lack of V's ownership of the subject property.

Page 8: andi-SLAPP issues. V did not flag third party wrongdoing by Swinger. V complained to CREP about wrongdoing by CREP (CP 13 exh 10-1). The anti-SLAPP statute only applies to a notice to a government agency of a third party wrongdoer. Swinger merely applied for the program and had no further activity in the process. CREP surveyed, staked out the boundary, created the map, and contracted with the workmen for brush clearing and planting of the vegetation

Page 9: Federal Judge Pechman dismissed all counterclaims to move the

Swinger believes that was done because she was aware of the lack of jurisdiction of a quiet title action in Federal Court.

claims to the Federal Appellate Court."

Page 14: Lee states "The order of dismissal was preceded by the actual litigation of Swinger's ownership rights."

That statement is false and no evidence has been provided to support that statement. The title company, FATCO, never tried to claim ownership of the Swinger property and there was no final decision in that case. Without a final decision no ownership rights were decided.

Page 17: V's attorney states "Indeed the evidence ...... is **essentially the** same as that produced in the State Action".

That statement is totally wrong. In this appeal substantially more government agencies and professional appraiser documents were provided then were provided in the state partial summary judgment.

Page 17: V's attorney states "Swinger contends an injustice ......because he could not have foreseen that V would claim ownership". (reference from this statement to the end of the page.)

Swinger could not have foreseen V would claim an interest in the subject property because he possessed all of the following documents showing his ownership prior to the FATCO settlement.

1 Swinger had obtained the Department of River and Flood map showing Swinger's ownership via the property tax parcel on the subject property.

(exh 1 attached)

- The CREP map indicating the boundaries of Swinger's property (exh
   attached ).
- 3. The Whatcom County parcel map shows Swinger's ownership.
- 4. The County Assessor's appraisal shows Swinger's ownership.
- The County Tax Collector's payment of property tax record shows ownership history.
- 6. Swinger's property tax bill shows ownership.
- 7. Easement 790220 recorded on Swinger's property stating there was an easement on the north and south side of the river of his property.

  The only property Swinger owns on the south side of the river is the property V is trying to claim. (All documents were included with the Swinger CPs) Because there is a fishing easement #790220 ("south of the river") on the subject property and one of the elements of adverse possession is "exclusive" use, V can't meet this and other elements for adverse possession.

Page 19: (abuse of process issue) "Swinger failed to allege or present ......any misuse of the legal process."

Swinger contends that for a partner in a legal firm to file a case in the wrong jurisdiction is a misuse of the legal process and damaged Swinger financially and emotionally. (V's attorney provided evidence of the federal court litigation.) One of the first requirements of an attorney is to know