No. 74703-7

COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

STEVE SWINGER,

Appellant

v.

DOUGLAS J. VANDERPOL,

Respondent

FILED
May 06, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF

MARK J. LEE, WSBA #19339
Brownlie Wolf & Lee, LLP
230 E. Champion Street
Bellingham, WA 98225
Ph. (360) 676-0306
E-mail: mark@brownlieevans.com

Attorneys for Respondent Douglas J. Vanderpol

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

III. DISCUSSION

This Court reviews the appeal of summary judgment de novo, meaning the review is the same as the Trial Court. Lybbert v. Grant County, State of Washington, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). The facts, and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from them, are viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Id. If there is no genuine issue of material fact, summary judgment be granted. Id.

A. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Swinger's Unjust Enrichment Claim Based Upon Collateral Estoppel.

Swinger argues that there are "facts" that establish his ownership of the Disputed Area.¹ Ultimately, these "facts" are irrelevant. There is

¹ Interestingly, Swinger highlights as proof of his ownership, the fact that Vanderpol included a claim for, inter alia, adverse possession as a basis to quiet title in the Disputed Area in the Action: "The mere filing of a claim in Federal Court of adverse possession is an admission that Vanderpol knows he does not own the UE property and the Federal Government never claimed ownership." Swinger Appellant Brief, p. 7. Although arguments and alleged evidence of his ownership of the Disputed Area is ultimately irrelevant, it is worth noting that Vanderpol stated the adverse possession claim as an

no dispute that Swinger's claim for unjust enrichment is dependent upon an underlying premise that he should be compensated for Vanderpol's use of the Disputed Area because he owns the Disputed Area. This claim fails, just as Swinger's ownership claims in the Action, because his claim is precluded by "non-mutuality" collateral estoppel.

Although Washington used to require mutuality of parties to apply collateral estoppel, this requirement has been eliminated and replaced by the availability of "non-mutual" collateral estoppel. This doctrine "occurs when a defendant seeks to prevent a plaintiff from re-litigating an issue previously litigated in an action against a different party." Casco Marina Development, LLC v. M/V Forrestall, 384 F.Supp.2d 154, 159 (D.C. D.C. 2005). Non-mutual collateral estoppel applies when:

(1) the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be identical with the one presented in the second; (2) the prior adjudication must have ended in a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea of collateral estoppel is asserted must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior litigation; and (4) application of [the] doctrine must not work an injustice.

State v. Bryant, 146 Wn.2d 90, 98-99, 42 P.3d 1278 (2002).

alternative basis to establish title to the Disputed Area. The ultimate reason the federal district court quieted title in the Disputed Area to Vanderpol and the United States was their deed title, and movement of the Nooksack River by accretion.

The issues here are identical, i.e., whether Swinger owns the Disputed Area. Swinger argues that such does not exist because the issue in the State Action was whether FATCO failed to disclose a defect in his title. However, he follows this statement with the admission that “Swinger had to establish ownership of the eastern property [Disputed Area] to establish his breach of contract claim.” Swinger Appellate Brief, p. 12. Thus, ownership of the Disputed Area was a necessary element to Swinger’s claim in the State Action.

Second, the issue in the State Action resulted in a determination that Swinger did not own any of the Disputed Area pursuant to a summary judgment. A ruling on a summary judgment is a “final ruling” for application of collateral estoppel. Bunce Rental, Inc. v. Clark Equipment Company, 42 Wn.App. 644, 648, 713 P.2d 128 (1986); see also In re Estate of Black, 116 Wn.App. 476, 485, 66 P.3d 670 (2003) (“Summary judgment is res judicata as to the parties’ rights.”).

Swinger contends there was no “final judgment” in the State Action because the Trial Court only concluded that he had not met his burden of proof of ownership. Swinger’s ownership was an element of his claim, and his failure to prove this element constitutes an adjudication on the merits.

He then argues that the State Action eventually culminated in a “dismissal” of the case pursuant to some undisclosed settlement. The Order of Dismissal of Plaintiff’s Complaint (“Order of Dismissal”) in the State Action was “with prejudice,” which constitutes a final order from which collateral estoppel can apply. See State, Dept. of Ecology v. Yakima Reservation Irr. Dist., 121 Wn.2d 257, 290, 850 P.2d 1306 (1993). The Order of Dismissal was preceded by the actual litigation of Swinger’s ownership rights that led to the order on summary judgment, which is the ruling that triggers application of collateral estoppel.

The ruling in Cunningham v. State, 61 Wn.App. 562, 811 P.2d 225 (1991) is controlling. There, the passenger of a vehicle driven into a concrete bollard originally sued, inter alia, the United States for alleged deficiencies in the design of road signage, lighting, and striping. The claim against the United States was dismissed on summary judgment based upon the discretionary function exception to the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2680(a). The passenger settled his remaining claims.

The driver of the vehicle thereafter sued his counsel for malpractice in Washington state court for failing to timely file an action for the accident against the United States. His former attorney sought and obtained dismissal of the malpractice claim based upon collateral estoppel

arising from the partial summary judgment awarded to the United States in the passenger's action. On appeal, the driver argued that the summary judgment order for the United States was not "final" because it was not an appealable order. The Washington State Court of Appeals disagreed because "finality" for purposes of collateral estoppel did not mean "appealability" under CR 54. Id. at 566.

The court identified the factors to consider in determining whether a prior order is "final" for purposes of collateral estoppel:

[w]hether the requisite firmness is present include whether the prior decision was adequately deliberated, whether it was firm, rather than tentative, whether the parties were fully heard, whether the court supported its decision with a reasoned opinion, and whether the decision was subject to appeal or in fact was reviewed on appeal.

Id. at 567 (citing Restatement (Second) of Judgments, § 13, comment g (1982)). Based upon these factors, the Court of Appeals upheld application of the doctrine to the order on summary judgment:

Cunningham fully and vigorously litigated the discretionary function exception issue in the first proceeding. The federal judge considered the question and issued a written opinion outlining her reasons for finding the discretionary function exception applicable. The judge was firm in her decision; she denied both Cunningham's and McBride's motions for reconsideration. Moreover, the issue decided was a purely legal one governed solely by federal law. A federal judge's decision on such an issue commands special deference; it would, therefore, be a particular waste of

judicial resources to relitigate the issue in state court. Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's conclusion that the federal court's partial summary judgment order was sufficiently firm to satisfy the requirements of collateral estoppel.

Id. at 569-70. The contended and fully litigated order on summary judgment in the State Action contained these same characteristics.

Finally, there is no injustice in applying collateral estoppel. Collateral estoppel will not be applied only if it will work a “manifest” injustice, which “means more than that the prior decision was wrong.” State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Avery, 114 Wn.App. 299, 306, 57 P.3d 300 (2002). Injustice only arises where a party lacks an “opportunity” to present evidence arising out of substantive exclusion of evidence or an inability to proffer the evidence. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ford Motor Co., 186 Wn.App. 715, 346 P.3d 771, 776 (2015). Swinger fully and vigorously litigated the issue in the State Action.

Swinger contends injustice arises because in the State Action, he was denied the opportunity to introduce evidence demonstrating his ownership interest which was not considered in the summary judgment. In order to establish this claim, the alleged additional evidence must be presented to evaluate its importance, admissibility, and relevance. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ford Motor Co., supra, 186 Wn.App. at 725-26.

Swinger has never identified what evidence he was prohibited from introducing. Moreover, Swinger had every opportunity to present evidence, and thus, has never contended or established that he was precluded from offering anything. Indeed, the evidence he offered at the Trial Court level, and to which he cites in his brief to establish his alleged ownership, is essentially the same as that produced in the State Action.

Swinger contends an injustice would occur because he was not sufficiently motivated to continue litigating his ownership in the State Action because he could not have foreseen that Vanderpol would claim ownership. This is factually incorrect, even if relevant. The Order of Dismissal was entered on March 1, 2012. By this time, he had received a January 9, 2012, letter from Farm Service Agency reporting that the CREP would not be granted for the Disputed Area based upon a claimed ownership interest by his neighbor. CP 54-55. He had also received a February 8, 2012, letter on behalf of Vanderpol, in the form of a “cc,” which specifically claimed that Vanderpol owned the property that was the subject matter of the State Action. CP 51-52. Thus, Swinger was notified of Vanderpol’s claimed ownership before agreeing to dismiss the State Action. The true question is whether or not Swinger had in the State Action “interests at stake that would call for a full litigational effort.”

Hadley v. Maxwell, 144 Wn.2d 306, 312, 27 P.3d 600 (2001) (quoting 14 Lewis H. Orland & Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Trial Practice, Civil, § 373 at 763 (5th ed.1996)). As the plaintiff in the State Action who admittedly needed to prove his ownership of the Disputed Area, such motivation was inherent.

He then argues that Judge Snyder failed to explain to him that he may be subject to collateral estoppel by failing to appeal the order finding that he did not own the Disputed Area. There is no injustice in applying collateral estoppel here, as it was not Judge Snyder's obligation to explain all of the potential implications to Swinger who chose to act pro se.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed the Abuse of Process Claim.

Although there is no dedicated section in his argument section as to the dismissal of his abuse of process claim, Swinger does maintain in the Statement of Case section that an abuse of process claim arises out of Vanderpol's filing of the Action because it was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

To prove abuse of process, Swinger must plead and prove "(1) the existence of an ulterior purpose to accomplish an object not within the proper scope of the process, and (2) an act in the use of legal process not

proper in the regular prosecution of the proceedings.” Mark v. Williams, 45 Wn.App. 182, 191, 724 P.2d 428, rev. denied, 107 Wn.2d 1015 (1986). Under this standard, the “mere institution of a legal proceeding even with a malicious motive does not constitute an abuse of process.” Fite v. Lee, 11 Wn.App. 21, 27–28, 521 P.2d 964, rev. denied, 84 Wn.2d 1005 (1974). Moreover, there is no liability for filing a baseless lawsuit, or simply having the lawsuit carried to its regular conclusion. Batten v. Abrams, 28 Wn.App. 737, 749, 626 P.2d 984, rev. denied, 95 Wn.2d 1033 (1981).

Swinger failed to allege or present any evidence of an improper ulterior motive or any misuse of the legal process. This failure to plead or present such evidence required that the claim be dismissed with prejudice.

C. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed the Intentional Interference With Contract Claim and Awarded Statutory Damages and Attorneys’ Fees Under the Anti-SLAPP Statute.

As with the abuse of process claim, Swinger does not include a dedicated section addressing dismissal of his intentional interference with contract claim, but does include the following Assignment of Error:

5. The trial court granted ANTI-SLAPP damages and fees. Vanderpol did not meet the statutory requirements for ANTI-SLAPP damages. Vanderpol complained to the government about the government not Swinger.

Swinger's Appellant Brief, p. 3. He also includes the following in his Statement of the Case:

In February 2012, Vanderpol employed attorney, Mark J. Lee (Lee), who criticized the CREP program (cr 13...ex 11-1). The letter is addressed to CREP and contains the pronoun 'you' several times naming the program as the wrong doer not Swinger.

Id. at pp. 6-7. Thus, it appears that Swinger continues to argue that his intentional interference claim should not have been dismissed, and statutory damages and attorneys' fees awarded under RCW 4.24.510.

There is no dispute from Swinger that his tortious interference claim was based exclusively upon Vanderpol's contacts with the District in which he claimed ownership of the Disputed Area. RCW 4.24.510 absolutely prohibited the claim:

A person who communicates a complaint or information to any branch or agency of federal, state, or local government, or to any self-regulatory organization that regulates persons involved in the securities or futures business and that has been delegated authority by a federal, state, or local government agency and is subject to oversight by the delegating agency, is immune from civil liability for claims based upon the communication to the agency or organization regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that agency or organization. A person prevailing upon the defense provided for in this section is entitled to recover expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in establishing the defense and in addition shall receive statutory damages of ten thousand dollars. Statutory

damages may be denied if the court finds that the complaint or information was communicated in bad faith.

The protection afforded by this statute is based upon the long-standing recognition that members of the public should be free to communicate with governmental agencies, without fear of being sued. The underlying purpose is explained in the legislative findings:

Information provided by citizens concerning potential wrongdoing is vital to effective law enforcement and the efficient operation of government. The legislature finds that the threat of a civil action for damages can act as a deterrent to citizens who wish to report information to federal, state, or local agencies. The costs of defending against such suits can be severely burdensome. The purpose of RCW 4.24.500 through 4.24.520 is to protect individuals who make good-faith reports to appropriate governmental bodies.

RCW 4.24.500. Thus, RCW 4.24.510 applies “when a person (1) ‘communicates a complaint or information to any branch of federal, state, or local government, or to any self-regulatory organization,’ that is (2) based on any matter ‘reasonably of concern to that agency.’” Bailey v. State of Washington, 147 Wn.App. 251, 261, 191 P.3d 1285 (2008), rev. denied, 166 Wn.2d 1004 (2009) (quoting RCW 4.24.510). Both of these elements apply to Swinger’s tortious interference claim.

Each of these elements exists in this case. First, the communications by Vanderpol relied upon by Swinger to recover lost

income from the allegedly terminated CREP contract were with District officials. The District is a local governmental agency. Finally, ownership of the Disputed Area was a concern of the District in determining whether a CREP contract should be entered with Swinger.

The propriety of applying the statute in this case is supported by Judge Pechman's conclusion that the statute applied to Swinger's claim for unjust enrichment, which was based upon the exact same communications relied upon here to seek recovery for tortious interference with a contract. The simplicity of the statute's application is shown by the analysis in Bailey:

To obtain immunity under RCW 4.24.510, the claim against Ms. Lindholdt must be based on a communication she made to EWU 'regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that agency or organization.' Ms. Lindholdt complained about Ms. Bailey to EWU concerning several matters of reasonable concern to EWU. Thus, her communication falls squarely under the immunity provided by RCW 4.24.510.

Id. at 263. See also Phoenix Trading, Inc. v. Kayser, 2011 WL 3158416 (2011) (immunity extended to company writing letter to New York City Mayor complaining about tooth brush product purchased for use in jails).

Swinger's only contention is that Vanderpol's communications to CREP did not report any wrongdoing on his part. The general purpose

provision of the Anti-SLAPP statute does reference the desire to promote the communication of “wrongdoing.” RCW 4.24.500. However, courts have specifically extended the applicability of RCW 4.24.510 to (1) “‘a complaint or information to any branch of federal, state, or local government, or to any self-regulatory organization,’ that is (2) based on any matter ‘reasonably of concern to that agency.’” Bailey v. State of Washington, supra, 147 Wn.App. at 261 (quoting RCW 4.24.510); see also Lowe v. Rowe, 173 Wn.App. 253, 261-62, 294 P.3d 6 (2012) (“All that needed to be established to obtain immunity was for Mr. Rowe to demonstrate that he communicated to law enforcement concerning a matter within their responsibility.”). This is consistent with the express language of RCW 4.24.510 which extends to the communication of “a complaint or information” to any governmental agency.

Swinger does not contend that Vanderpol’s claimed ownership was not of interest to the District. He cannot, since the District specifically relied upon the claim to deny the contract:

The Farm Service Agency will not determine ownership of the disputed property. Until this ownership issue is resolved, Per handbook 2-CRP paragraph 126B, funding will only be issued to the portion of the project on the west side of the Nooksack River.

CP 54.

Because of the ability to harm a person even by bringing a case where immunity arises, the legislature provided an unqualified right for a party needing to seek dismissal of an inappropriately filed claim to recover attorneys' fees and costs, along with statutory damages of \$10,000.00. Entitlement to both is without any discretion: "A person prevailing upon the defense provided for in this section is entitled to recover expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in establishing the defense and in addition shall receive statutory damages of ten thousand dollars." RCW 4.24.510. Swinger does not dispute the awarding of such relief to Vanderpol.

D. Vanderpol Should Be Awarded Attorneys' Fees and Costs on Appeal Associated With the Intentional Interference With Contract Claim.